

Summary of evidence

# Antioxidants in food, drinks and supplements for cardiovascular health

1300 36 27 87 www.heartfoundation.org.au

Updated August 2010 PRO-107.V2

## Contents

Recommendations	4
Summary of evidence	5
Levels of evidence for clinical interventions	7
Rationale and objectives	8
Aim	
Scope	9
Methodology	9
Australian intakes and recommendations	10
Part 1: Food and drinks	11
Fruit and vegetables	11
Population studies: CVD and CHD	
Vegetarians	
Fruit and vegetables and CVH risk factors: RCTs	13
Conclusions	13
Теа	14
Composition of brewed tea	13
Population studies: CVD	15
Tea and CVH markers: RCTs	
Cocoa and chocolate	
Population studies: CVD	
Cocoa and CVH markers: RCTs	
Variations in composition	
Conclusions	
Coffee	
Population studies: CVD	
Coffee and CVH markers: RCTs	
Red wine	
Population studies: CVD	
Red wine and CVH markers: RCTs	
Red wine and risks associated with increased alcohol consumption	
Conclusions	
Part 2: Supplements	
Supplements: systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs	
Conclusion	
Supplements: systematic reviews and meta-analyses of population studies	
Conclusion	

Conclusions	
Abbreviations	29
Acknowledgements	30
References	31

© 2010 National Heart Foundation of Australia ABN 98 008 419 761 ISBN: 978-1-921226-91-5

This work is copyright. No part may be reproduced in any form or language without prior written permission from the National Heart Foundation of Australia (national office). Enquiries concerning permissions should be directed to copyright@heartfoundation.org.au.

Disclaimer: This document has been produced by the National Heart Foundation of Australia for the information of health professionals. The statements and recommendations it contains are, unless labelled as 'expert opinion', based on independent review of the available evidence. Interpretation of this document by those without appropriate medical and/or clinical training is not recommended, other than at the request of, or in consultation with, a relevant health professional.

While care has been taken in preparing the content of this material, the National Heart Foundation of Australia and its employees cannot accept any liability, including for any loss or damage, resulting from the reliance on the content, or for its accuracy, currency and completeness.

This material may be found in third parties' programs or materials (including but not limited to show bags or advertising kits). This does not imply an endorsement or recommendation by the National Heart Foundation of Australia for such third parties' organisations, products or services, including these parties' materials or information. Any use of National Heart Foundation of Australia material by another person or organisation is done so at the user's own risk.

The entire contents of this material are subject to copyright protection.

## Recommendations

To reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and maintain cardiovascular health (CVH), the Heart Foundation recommends that all Australian adults do the following.

- 1. Consume at least two serves of fruit and five serves of vegetables every day.
- 2. As part of a healthy balanced diet, drink:\*
  - black or green tea<sup>†</sup>
  - cocoa made from raw cocoa powder.<sup>‡</sup>

The Heart Foundation **does not** recommend the following.

- 1. Consuming milk or dark chocolate for the prevention or treatment of CVD. Due to processing to remove the bitter taste, most chocolate is a poor source of antioxidants, and contains saturated and trans fats.
- Drinking coffee for the prevention or treatment of CVD. If consuming coffee, drink only paper-filtered, percolated, café-style (espresso) or instant (regular and decaffeinated), in preference to boiled (such as Turkish-style) or plunger coffee. Consume less than five cups per day.<sup>§</sup>
- Drinking red wine or other types of alcoholic drinks for the prevention or treatment of CVD. The Heart Foundation supports the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) recommendation for healthy Australians who already drink to have no more than two standard drinks per day for men and women.<sup>1</sup>
- Using antioxidant supplements, such as vitamins E and C, carotenoids and other antioxidants or combinations, for the prevention or treatment of CVD. There is some concern that high doses (> 800 IU/day) of supplemental vitamin E may increase the risk of CVD.

The Heart Foundation supports the *Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand*<sup>2</sup>, which recommends that people consume a diet that would provide these nutrients at levels currently equating to the 90th centile of intake in the population.

Antioxidants in food, drinks and supplements for cardiovascular health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup>Adding milk and sugar to drinks may contribute substantially to energy intake, depending on the number of cups consumed. Use reduced, low or no fat milk where possible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>This does not include iced tea. Caffeine consumed in large amounts may cause restlessness and disturb sleep in some people.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>Raw cocoa powder contains high levels of polyphenols. This does not include drinking chocolate/milk modifiers. <sup>§</sup>Caffeine consumed in large amounts may cause restlessness and disturb sleep in some people.

## Summary of evidence

Evidence	Level of evidence
Fruit and vegetables	
Consuming a diet rich in fruit and vegetables causes a modest fall in systolic blood pressure in normotensive and hypertensive individuals. <sup>3–5</sup>	П
<ul> <li>Increasing fruit and vegetable consumption is associated with:</li> <li>a reduction in CVD mortality</li> <li>a reduced risk of stroke and</li> <li>a lower risk of coronary heart disease (CHD).<sup>6-16</sup></li> </ul>	-2
Теа	
Drinking tea or consuming tea flavonoids improves endothelial function. <sup>17–26</sup>	II
There is limited evidence that drinking green tea or consuming tea flavonoids reduces visceral fat. <sup>27-31</sup>	П
Regular tea drinking is associated with a reduced risk of CVD. <sup>32–37</sup>	III-2
There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of regular tea drinking on blood pressure. <sup>23,38,39–45</sup>	n/a**
There is little evidence that drinking tea improves the lipid profile.	n/a
Сосоа	
Acute intake of high polyphenol cocoa and/or chocolate increases endothelial function. <sup>46,47</sup>	I
Consuming high polyphenol (= 500 mg) cocoa and/or up to 100 g/day of high polyphenol (= 500 mg) chocolate can modestly reduce systolic blood pressure. <sup>45,46,48,49</sup>	11
Cocoa and/or chocolate intake reduces platelet reactivity. <sup>50–54</sup>	II

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*\*</sup>Where there is insufficient or inconclusive evidence, the level of evidence is categorised as not applicable (n/a).

Evidence	Level of evidence
Coffee	
Consuming approximately five cups per day of coffee causes a small elevation in systolic blood pressure. <sup>55,56</sup>	I
Boiled coffee increases low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and total cholesterol (TC) levels. Filtered and instant coffee have very little effect on LDL-C and TC levels. <sup>57–60</sup>	I
Coffee consumption has little impact on the risk of CHD. <sup>61–65</sup>	III-2
Coffee consumption is not associated with increased rates of heart failure hospitalisation or mortality, or cardiovascular mortality.	III-2
The role of coffee intake in the development of hypertension is unclear from epidemiological studies (level of evidence: III-2). <sup>69</sup>	III-2
Regular coffee consumption is associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes. <sup>70</sup>	III-2
Red wine	
Conflicting and insufficient evidence exists regarding the CVH benefits of polyphenols in red wine.	n/a
Vitamin supplements	
Consuming vitamin E supplements does not decrease all-cause mortality or cardiovascular mortality, or prevent cardiovascular events. <sup>71–74</sup>	I
Consuming $\beta$ -carotene supplements has a small effect on increasing cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality in smokers. <sup>73</sup>	II
There is no evidence for the effectiveness of combination antioxidant supplements for the prevention of CVD. <sup>71,72,74</sup>	II
There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of supplemental vitamin C intake and the risk of CHD. <sup>75,76</sup>	-2

## Levels of evidence for clinical interventions

Where there is insufficient or inconclusive evidence, the level of evidence is categorised as n/a.

Level of evidence	Study design
1	Evidence obtained from a systematic review of all relevant randomised controlled trials (RCT).
П	Evidence obtained from at least one properly designed RCT.
III-1	Evidence obtained from well-designed, pseudo RCTs (alternate allocation or some other method).
III-2	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with concurrent controls and allocation, not randomised cohort studies, case-control studies or interrupted time series with a control group.
III-3	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with historical control, two or more single-arm studies or interrupted time series without a parallel control group.
IV Source: <sup>77</sup>	Evidence obtained from case series, either post-test or pre-test and post-test.

Source:

Regional variations in the incidence of CHD are incompletely explained by established risk factors, such as hypercholesterolaemia.<sup>78</sup> Some of these variations may be explained by differences in the dietary intake of saturated fat and antioxidants. Fruit and vegetables have been shown to protect against chronic disease,<sup>79</sup> but other foods, such as dark chocolate, and drinks, such as tea, coffee and wine, can be rich in antioxidants, particularly flavonoids, and may also be protective. In addition, supplements of individual antioxidants have been proposed to protect against CHD.<sup>80,81</sup>

There has been considerable research into how antioxidants exert their health benefits. For many years, the beneficial role of antioxidants was thought to be related to it reducing the unwanted and uncontrolled production of reactive oxygen species, which would otherwise lead to oxidative stress. Antioxidants include antioxidation agents that ameliorate oxidative damage by directly reacting with, or scavenging, oxidants that otherwise react with biological molecules, including lipids and proteins. As such, these antioxidants counteract oxidative stress, defined as an imbalance between the production and the removal of oxidants in favour of the former.

Oxidative damage has the potential to contribute to various processes leading to atherosclerosis. For example, oxidants can interfere with the normal function of endothelial cells, they can initiate lipoprotein and cell lipid peroxidation, and they can regulate the activity of enzymes involved in tissue remodelling, including that leading to plaque rupture. Importantly, however, a major unresolved issue is which of the various atherosclerotic processes leading to oxidative damage represents a cause rather than a consequence of the disease.

Current thinking increasingly recognises that the *in vivo* action of dietary antioxidants may be more complex and include processes in addition to direct oxidant scavenging, such as the induction of protective enzymes and processes.

Many studies have carried out assays of food items to determine their total antioxidant capacity (TAC), but there are problems with trying to correlate the numbers obtained from these assays with nutritional value.<sup>82</sup> Uptake in the gastrointestinal tract, metabolism and excretion, and biokinetics modify the impact of food items, which may have health effects independent of the antioxidant component. Even if the compound is active *in vitro*, it may not be taken up in the gastrointestinal tract or metabolised before or after uptake to products which are not redox (reduction and oxidation) active, therefore those *in vitro* data do not apply. Whether pro-oxidant, antioxidant or any other biological effects potentially exerted by polyphenols account for the health benefits of certain food and drinks is uncertain.<sup>83</sup>

The dietary antioxidants thought to play a role in CVH are vitamins C and E, coenzyme  $Q_{10}$ , and flavonoids. The term 'vitamin E' includes four isomers of tocopherols and tocotrienols, of which  $\alpha$ -tocopherol has received the most attention.  $\alpha$ -tocopherol itself can occur in eight different (stereoisomer) forms. In nature,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol is present only as *RRR*- $\alpha$ -tocopherol (also referred to as natural or d- $\alpha$ -tocopherol), whereas chemically synthesised  $\alpha$ -tocopherol (vitamin E) is known as all rac- $\alpha$ -tocopherol. Vitamin E supplements are labelled commonly as d-alpha for natural, and dl-alpha for synthetic. Natural and synthetic vitamin E differ in their biological activity. To calculate the amount of vitamin E in supplements, multiply IU x

0.67 and 0.45 for *RRR*- $\alpha$ -tocopherol and all rac- $\alpha$ -tocopherol, respectively; that is, 100 IU of natural vitamin E equals 67 mg of natural vitamin E, and 100 IU of synthetic vitamin E equals 45 mg of natural vitamin E. The major classes of flavonoids include flavanols, flavones, flavanones, flavanols, anthocyanins and isoflavones. There are > 4,000 naturally occurring antioxidants which provide the colour, texture and taste of plant foods.

### Aim

To determine if antioxidants in food, drinks and supplements are effective in maintaining CVH and reducing the risk of CVD.

### Scope

Given that we consume food and not nutrients, and the wide range of antioxidants that exist, it was decided to conduct this review by antioxidant-rich food and drinks, and antioxidant supplement sources, where possible. In particular, the review examined the effect of:

- fruit and vegetables
- tea
- cocoa and chocolate
- coffee
- red wine.

In addition, the paper reviews new evidence on antioxidant supplementation to update the Heart Foundation's existing review.<sup>84</sup>

We acknowledge that there are other antioxidant-rich, whole foods that contribute to daily intake that are not included in this review.

This paper looks at the effectiveness of antioxidant intake on the following outcomes:

- cardiovascular events and mortality
- cardiovascular risk factors, such as high blood pressure, diabetes, overweight and abnormal lipid profile
- other clinical outcomes related to the risk of CVD, such as endothelial function, platelet function and inflammation.

### Methodology

To ensure that the Heart Foundation recommendations were based on the best available evidence, this paper sought to collect and analyse the highest-quality international studies, reviews and reports relating to antioxidant-rich food and drinks and antioxidant supplements. Studies were identified by searching PubMed for all years of the database, except for studies relating to supplementation, which were searched from 2003. In addition, evidence was identified by recommendations from members of the working group and by checking the citations of key reviews, journal articles and articles related to the topic. The year range covered was determined by the date of the last Heart Foundation review.

The NHMRC levels of evidence were attributed to the recommendations, where appropriate, and the associated studies were listed. Where there is insufficient or inconclusive evidence, the level of evidence is categorised as n/a.

### Australian intakes and recommendations

The NHMRC Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand recommend that people consume a diet (rather than supplements) which would provide nutrients at levels currently equating to the 90th centile of intake in the population.<sup>2</sup> The 90th centile intake for vitamin C is about 220 mg per day for adult males and 190 mg per day for adult females. For vitamin E, the 90th centile intake is about 19 mg for men and 14 mg for women, and for  $\beta$ -carotene, the 90th centile is 5,800 µg per day for men and 5,000 µg per day for women.

Data from the 1995 National Nutrition Survey was analysed to identify major sources of flavanols in the Australian diet.<sup>85</sup> Black and green teas were the main sources of flavanols kaempferol, myricetin and quercetin (the major flavanol in the Western diet). Other significant sources were onions, beans, broccoli, apples, grapes and coffee. Black and green teas were also major sources of flavan-3-ols, with contributions from wine, apples and pears. The major sources of flavanones were oranges, lemons, mandarins and grapefruit. Parsley, celery and English spinach were the major flavone sources. Wine was the major anthocyanidin source, with smaller amounts from cherries and blueberries. For young people, apple consumption was an important source of flavonoids, while citrus fruit were important sources of hesperitin and naringenin.<sup>86</sup>

### Fruit and vegetables

Regular consumption of fruit and vegetables has been shown to protect against CVD. Research has sought the components or compounds responsible for this apparent health benefit. Much of that research currently focuses on antioxidants, including carotenoids, vitamins C and E, and flavonoids,<sup>87</sup> but questions remain as to whether other nutrients are protective.<sup>88</sup> A diet rich in fruit and vegetables may be healthier for numerous reasons, including their displacement of other foods; therefore, those diets may be lower in saturated fat, lower in sodium and higher in potassium. The increase in dietary fibre from fruit and vegetable intake may also lower blood cholesterol and improve glucose tolerance, both of which are important risk factors for CVD.

Epidemiological studies have compared populations with a higher intake of fruit and vegetables with populations with the lowest consumption. They have also compared vegetarian groups with non-vegetarian groups. Risk factors, such as blood pressure, blood cholesterol and changes in markers for CVD, such as plasma C-reactive protein, have also been measured.

The positive health effects of fruit and vegetable consumption have prompted an Australia-wide social marketing campaign encouraging adult Australians to consume two serves of fruit and five serves of vegetables every day.<sup>89</sup> While most Australians are not consuming the recommended amount, there are some specific fruit and vegetables that are proving more popular than others, including pears, apples, bananas, pineapples, potatoes, carrots, tomatoes, lettuces, onions, leeks, peas and cabbage.<sup>79</sup>

Cooked vegetables are often associated with reduced nutritional quality. Heating can result in oxidation, thermal degradation, leaching and other events that lead to lower levels of antioxidants and other components. However, a study by Pellegrini and colleagues<sup>90</sup> observed that cooking is not always detrimental to the total antioxidant capacity (TAC). Most boiled vegetables tested increased their TAC value, with the highest increase for artichokes (500%). Negative changes were observed only for spinach, turnips, zucchinis and asparagus. Pan frying had a negative effect on the TAC of most vegetables, with mushrooms being the most affected. Potatoes and aubergines were the only vegetables with an increase in the TAC.

### Population studies: CVD and CHD

### CVD

A prospective cohort study of middle-aged men suggested that a high consumption of fruit, including berries, and vegetables is associated with a reduced risk of CVD-related, non-CVD related and overall mortality.<sup>6</sup> The men in the highest quintile of intake had greater intakes of vitamin C, lycopene and vitamin E, and these intake levels explained 36% of the protective effect against cardiovascular mortality.

A large prospective cohort study in Japan observed a significant trend between vegetable intake and CVD mortality in women, but not in men.<sup>7</sup> Women who consumed the highest amounts of vegetables were at lower risk of cardiovascular mortality than women who consumed the lowest amount. The inverse association between fruit and cardiovascular

mortality was not significant for women. In men, neither fruit nor vegetable consumption was associated with cardiovascular mortality.

A meta-analysis of eight studies (nine individual cohorts, 257,551 individuals) showed that increased fruit and vegetable intake is associated with a reduced risk of stroke.<sup>8</sup> Compared with individuals who consumed fewer than three servings of fruit and vegetables per day, people who consumed three to five serves per day had an 11% reduction in the risk of stroke, and people with more than five serves per day had a reduction of 26%.

Law and Morris<sup>9</sup> estimated that a population increase in fruit and vegetable consumption, moving from the 10th percentile to the 90th percentile, is associated with a decrease in the risk of developing CHD of about 15% (range: 12–19%). This is equivalent to a reduction in CHD mortality of about 10% if everybody below the 90th percentile increased their consumption to the 90th percentile. The authors recommended consumption of eight servings of fruit and vegetables every day, one serve more than currently recommended by the Australian government.

### Conclusion

Increasing fruit and vegetable consumption is associated with:

- a reduction in cardiovascular mortality (level of evidence for effect: III-2)
- a reduced risk of stroke (level of evidence for effect: III-2).

### CHD

He and colleagues<sup>12</sup> performed a meta-analysis using the results of 12 studies (13 independent cohorts, 278,459 individuals) to quantitatively assess the relationship between fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of CHD. The study showed that an increased consumption of fruit and vegetables is related to a reduced risk of CHD. Those consuming more than five servings per day had a 17% reduction in CHD risk compared to those consuming fewer than three servings per day.

A meta-analysis of nine cohort studies<sup>13</sup> examined the relationship between fruit and vegetable intake and CHD. This study reported an inverse association between both fruit and vegetable intake and CHD, with the risk decreasing by 4% for each additional serving of fruit and vegetables, and by 7% for each additional serving of fruit.

A prospective cohort study involving participants from the Nurse's Health Study and the Health Professionals Follow-Up Study evaluated the association between fruit and vegetable consumption and the risk of CHD.<sup>14</sup> The results suggested an inverse relationship between intake and risk of CHD in men and women. Each additional serving of fruit or vegetables was associated with a 4% lower risk for CHD. Green leafy vegetables and vitamin C-rich fruit and vegetables contributed most to the protective effect of fruit and vegetables.

Apples, pears and onions are good sources of flavonoids in the Australian diet,<sup>85,86</sup> and several studies have measured the effect of their consumption on CHD. The results of the Zutphen Elderly Study showed that intakes of flavonoids from apples and onions (and tea) predicted lower CHD mortality.<sup>15</sup> A Finnish study examining flavonoid intake and coronary mortality found that apple and onion intake was inversely associated with coronary mortality, especially in women.<sup>10</sup> Data from the same study also showed a specific cardioprotective role of quercetin (~ 95% of the total flavonoid intake), which comes mostly from apples and onions in the Finnish diet. In a US study examining the effect of catechins on CHD mortality, apples were found to be inversely associated with CHD mortality in post-menopausal

women (particularly non-smokers free of diabetes mellitus and CVD).<sup>16</sup> Another study of post-menopausal women showed that the flavanols in apples and pears decreased the risk of CHD and CVD mortality.<sup>11</sup>

A systematic review and meta-analysis by Hamer and Chida<sup>91</sup> examined the association between fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of type 2 diabetes. Five cohorts were identified incorporating 167,128 participants with type 2 diabetes. The results suggested that fruit and vegetable consumption is not associated with a substantial reduction in the risk of type 2 diabetes. A second analysis of nine cohort studies and 139,793 participants over 13 years demonstrated that antioxidant intake, mainly vitamin E and carotenoids, was associated with a 13% reduction in risk.

### Conclusion

Each additional serve of fruit or vegetables per day is associated with a 4% lower risk of CHD (level of evidence for effect: III-2).

The findings from international studies recommend consumption of more than five serves of fruit and vegetables per day, with an emphasis on onions, green leafy vegetables, apples, pears, berries and other vitamin C-rich fruit and vegetables.

### Vegetarians

Vegetarians generally have a higher intake of cereals, nuts, vegetable oils, carrots, green vegetables and fruit. Such a diet is rich in vitamins E, C and A. Epidemiological studies of vegetarians do not provide conclusive evidence of the benefits of fruit and vegetables because it is difficult to determine which aspect of the diet is offering the health benefit. However, the findings from The EPIC-Oxford Study<sup>92</sup>, UK Vegetarian Society Study<sup>93</sup> and other vegetarian studies<sup>94,95</sup> show a reduction in mortality from ischemic heart disease.

### Conclusion

Further good-quality studies are needed to determine the benefits of a vegetarian diet against CVD and the role, if any, antioxidants play in this.

### Fruit and vegetables and CVH risk factors: RCTs

There have been a number of small, short-term RCTs measuring the effect of fruit and vegetable intake on plasma lipids. Increased consumption of fruit and vegetables in people who normally have a low intake have been shown to lower LDL-C (through the consumption of vegetable proteins),<sup>96</sup> increase total carotenoid concentrations in plasma,<sup>97–99</sup> and reduce C-reactive protein.<sup>97</sup>

The Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) trial demonstrated that a diet rich in fruit and vegetables could help lower systolic blood pressure substantially in normotensive and hypertensive individuals.<sup>3</sup> Due to the strong positive results, the DASH diet is now recommended in US national guidelines for risk factor reduction of CVD.<sup>5</sup> When compared with the control diet, the DASH diet was higher in flavanols, flavanones, flavan-3-ols, ß-carotene, ß-cryptoxanthin, lycopene, lutein and zeaxanthin and phytosterols.<sup>4</sup> The fruit and vegetable diet yielded reductions in systolic blood pressure of 2.8 mmHg (*P*< 0.001) compared to the control diet (typical US diet).<sup>3</sup> While it is attractive to speculate that these antioxidant compounds from fruit and vegetables may in part explain the beneficial effects of the DASH diet, we are not yet in a position to draw this conclusion because of the multiple components of the diet.

#### Conclusion

A diet rich in fruit and vegetables can result in a fall in systolic blood pressure in normotensive and hypertensive individuals (level of evidence: I).

### Conclusions

While many of the studies in this review were not set in Australia, the findings can be applied to the Australian population, based on the types of fruit and vegetables consumed in the studies, the quantities of intake and the Western diet and lifestyle of the majority of participants.

Further research is needed to determine which particular component of fruit and vegetables is responsible for health benefits and its role in CVH. Large RCTs with a focus on diets rich in fruit and vegetables, rather than focused on individual nutrients, are needed to measure CVD outcomes, and ultimately improve our understanding of the beneficial effects of fruit and vegetables.

### Теа

After water, tea (green or black tea) is the most widely consumed drink in the world. Every year, Australians drink 8,030 million cups of tea, including green tea (2,000 tonnes per year) and black tea (14,060 tonnes per year), most of which is imported. Both green and black teas are rich in polyphenolic compounds, primarily flavonoids. Flavonoids in general have antioxidant activities, when assessed by *in vitro* methods. It is less clear, however, whether dietary flavonoids can significantly reduce oxidative damage *in vivo*. Of potential importance, tea and tea flavonoids have other activities and effects, which may or may not be linked to antioxidant activity that could provide CVH benefits.

The two main types of tea are black and green. Black and green teas are derived from the same plant, *Camellia sinensis*. Black tea is more widely consumed, accounting for more than 75% of world consumption and about 98% of the international tea trade. Green tea remains popular in China and Japan, and is increasing in popularity in many Westernised countries, due mainly to its perceived health benefits. Black tea is produced by promoting the enzymatic oxidation of the flavonoids, primarily the catechins (flavonols). Green tea is produced by inactivating the enzymes responsible for flavonoid oxidation. The main difference between the two types of tea is their content of flavonoids (Table 1).

Component	Green tea (% by dry weight)	Black tea (% by dry weight)	
Total flavonoids	15–25	15–25	
Total catechins (flavonols)	12–18	2–3	
(–) Epicatechin	1–3	< 1	
(-) Epicatechin gallate	3–6	< 1	
(-) Epigallocatechin	3–6	< 1	
(-) Epigallocatechin gallate	9–13	1–2	
Flavanols (quercetin)	2–3	1–2	
Theaflavins	< 1	4	
Other polyphenols (thearubigins)	2–4	7–15	

Table 1: Flavonoid composition of green and black teas

Derived from a number of sources.<sup>46</sup>

### Composition of brewed tea

Depending on the presentation of the tea leaf, the temperature of the water and infusion time, approximately 25–50% of flavonoids will be extracted into the hot water when preparing tea. Brewed tea (2 g tea leaves infused in 200 mL hot water) will contain approximately 170 mg total flavonoids. Fewer flavonoids are found in instant preparations and iced and ready-to-drink teas.<sup>100</sup> The addition of milk can reduce the flavonoid concentration, but does not interfere with catechin absorption.<sup>100</sup> A cup of green tea (2 g tea leaves in 200 mL water) may contain 70 mg of epigallocatechin-3-gallate.<sup>101</sup>

### Population studies: CVD

Evidence from population studies suggests that tea consumption and a higher flavonoid intake may reduce the risk of CVD. Peters and coworkers<sup>32</sup> performed a meta-analysis of tea (primarily black tea) consumption in relation to CVD, and estimated that the incidence rate of myocardial infarction decreased by 11% with an increase in tea consumption of three cups per day. Epidemiological studies have also investigated the association between green tea consumption and cardiovascular events, as well as other surrogate markers of CVD.

Most of these studies have been conducted among Asian populations (China and Japan) and suggest a cardioprotective effect of green tea consumption.<sup>33–36</sup> Positive results have been found for consumption of up to 10 cups of green tea per day. Caution should be taken in interpreting the results of these studies because of the strong likelihood of publication bias and the presence of geographical heterogeneity in the results. In another meta-analysis of cohort studies, Huxley and Neil<sup>37</sup> assessed the association of dietary flavanol intake from tea and other sources with the subsequent risk of CHD mortality. Seven prospective cohorts of men and women (105,000 individuals; five studies reported tea as a source of flavonoid intake) were identified, including a total of 2,087 fatal CHD events. Individuals in the top third were compared with those in the bottom third of dietary flavanol intake. This comparison yielded a 20% reduction in the combined risk ratio after adjustment for known CHD risk factors and other dietary components.

### Conclusion

Regular black or green tea drinking is associated with a reduced risk of CVD (level of evidence: III-2).

### Tea and CVH markers: RCTs

The epidemiological evidence on tea and CVH cannot prove causality; well-designed intervention studies with appropriate outcome measures provide stronger evidence for a link between tea and CVH. The effects of tea on primary or secondary prevention of CVD have not been assessed in an RCT. Therefore, we need to rely on data from RCTs assessing CVH markers.

### Endothelial function

The endothelium is a complex structure with diverse, important properties affecting vascular tone, thrombosis and inflammation. Endothelial dysfunction, in relation to vascular physiology, is a broad term used commonly in relation to vascular physiology to refer to the diminished bioavailability of nitric oxide. It is considered to be an early biomarker for the development of atherosclerosis<sup>102,103</sup> and cardiovascular events.<sup>103</sup>

There is adequate evidence from intervention trials that consuming tea (black and green) can improve endothelial function, as assessed by flow-mediated dilation (FMD). This has been observed in at least eight RCTs in humans.<sup>17–24</sup> Acute supplementation with tea flavonoids (such as (–) epicatechin and epigallocatechin gallate) improves endothelial function and augments the nitric oxide status.<sup>25,26</sup> Nitric oxide is a key endothelium-derived relaxing factor that plays a pivotal role in the maintenance of vascular tone and reactivity.

### Conclusion

The consumption of black and green teas and tea flavonoids improves endothelial function (level of evidence: II).

### Blood pressure/Hypertension

Acutely, black tea can increase blood pressure. Flavonoids with caffeine cause a transient increase in systolic blood pressure in individuals who have avoided caffeine for 12 hours or more.<sup>23,38</sup> The relevance of these acute effects to any longer-term effects of regular consumption is uncertain.

The results of population studies suggest that long-term, regular ingestion of tea may lower blood pressure.<sup>39–42</sup> However, it should be considered that tea intake is generally associated with a range of lifestyle factors related to CVD risk. Short-term, regular ingestion of tea for up to eight weeks was not shown to alter blood pressure in largely normotensive individuals.<sup>43,44</sup> A recent meta-analysis showed no overall effect on systolic or diastolic blood pressure,<sup>45</sup> but longer-term exposure may be required to show the effects on blood pressure.

### Conclusion

The results of population studies suggest long-term, regular tea drinking may lower blood pressure (level of evidence: III-2), while data from short-term RCTs indicate that there is no effect of black or green tea on blood pressure. RCTs are required to investigate the longer-term effects of regular tea drinking on blood pressure.

### Lipid profile

Despite favourable results from animal experiments, the results of RCTs in humans regarding the effects of green tea<sup>104–106</sup> and black tea<sup>107</sup> on plasma lipids are not uniform. The lipid-lowering effects of tea in humans are, for the most part, quite small. The discrepancies between experimental and clinical data may be explained by the fact that most animal studies were performed with high doses of tea and tea components.<sup>33</sup>

### Conclusion

There remains little support from RCTs for a favourable impact of tea on lipid profile.

### Body weight and body composition

Available data suggest that regular consumption of tea may increase energy expenditure and reduce visceral fat. Excess visceral fat is specifically associated with metabolic activities linked to an increased risk of CVD. Several studies have shown that tea (green and oolong), or preparations containing tea flavonoids with caffeine, significantly increase 24-hour energy expenditure<sup>108–110</sup> and increase fat oxidation during exercise,<sup>111–113</sup> although it is not clear whether this effect is due to caffeine, catechins or both. The magnitude of this increase is between 3 and 7%, (~ 250–600 kJ/day), and this could contribute to longer-term beneficial effects on body weight and composition. If a small increase in energy expenditure (~ 5%) is sustained over months, a significant reduction in fat mass or body weight could result. The results of trials suggest that green tea or tea flavonoids reduce body weight by less than 1% on average (0.5–1 kg) over two to five months, indicating that there may be some compensation in energy intake.<sup>27–30,114,115</sup> That is, there appears to be very little effect on total body weight. However, data from human intervention trials suggest that the regular consumption of tea or tea flavonoids for two to five months will reduce waist circumference or visceral fat by 1 to 2 cm or 5 to 10%.<sup>27-31</sup>

### Conclusion

There is some preliminary evidence that green tea and tea flavonoids can reduce visceral fat during medium-term consumption (level of evidence for benefit: II).

### Cocoa and chocolate

Cacao (*Theobroma cacao*) is the natural product key to making the processed product of chocolate, whose ingredients include cocoa solids, cocoa butter, vegetable oils, refined sugar and milk powder. Cocoa is potentially one of the richest dietary sources of flavonoids. However, it is important to differentiate between natural cocoa and manufactured cocoa powders and chocolate. Significant amounts of flavonoids are removed or masked during the manufacturing process because they impart a bitter, astringent flavour.<sup>116</sup>

The flavonoids present in high concentrations in cocoa are the flavonols epicatechin and catechin, and procyanidins (polymeric flavonoids).<sup>50</sup> Estimates of the flavonoid content of natural cocoa and cocoa-containing foods, such as chocolate, are presented in Table 2.

Flavonoid	Natural cocoa powder (mg/kg)	Cocoa-containing foods (mg/kg)
(-) Epigallocatechin	1500–2500	0–500
(+) Catechin	400–800	0–300
Quercetin	100–150	0–150
Procyanidins	1000–2000	0–400

### Table 2: Flavonoid composition of cocoa and cocoa-containing foods

A comparison of antioxidant activity and the content of commercially available cocoa and chocolate products in the USA found that natural cocoas had the highest levels of antioxidant activities, total polyphenols and procyanidins, followed by baking chocolates, dark chocolates and baking chips, milk chocolate and syrups.<sup>117</sup> Non fat cocoa solids were the primary factor contributing to the level of cocoa antioxidants in the products, while differences in cocoa bean blends and processing were minor factors.

### Population studies: CVD

Observational studies in Kuna Indians provide evidence that the consumption of cocoa is responsible for benefits on blood pressure.<sup>118</sup> Traditional Kuna Indians consumed several grams of cocoa daily, and appeared to be protected against CVD and age-dependent increases in blood pressure, often against the background of a high salt diet. In Kuna Indians who moved to the cities and decreased their cocoa intake, age-dependent increases in blood pressure became apparent. Cocoa appears to be the main diet/lifestyle difference between island and mainland Kuna Indians. These observations provided the initial impetus to explore the potential CVH benefits of cocoa and chocolate.

Study	Endpoints	Number of participants	Type of intervention	Dose	Finding
Zutphen Elderly Study <sup>48</sup>	CVM ACM	470 elderly men with 15-year follow up	Chocolate and cocoa	Lowest < 0.50 g/d, middle 0.50–2.25 g/d, highest > 2.25 g/d	RR for CVM:         lowest 1.00,         middle 0.70,         highest 0.50; $P = 0.004$ for         trend         RR for ACM:         lowest 1.00,         middle 0.73,         highest 0.53; $P < 0.001$ for         trend
Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program <sup>119</sup>	CVM ACM	1169 non-diabetic individuals after myocardial infarction	Chocolate (did not differentiate between milk and dark)	50 g portions	HR for CVM: never 1.00, < 1/month 0.73, up to 1/week 0.56, 2 or more/week 0.34; P = 0.01 for trend HR for ACM: never 1.00, < 1/month 0.89, up to 1/week 0.96, 2 or more/week 0.94; P = 0.96 for trend
Zutphen Elderly Study <sup>48</sup>	BP	470 elderly men with 15-year follow up	Chocolate and cocoa	Lowest < 0.36 g/d, middle 0.36–2.30 g/d, highest > 2.30 g/d	RR for systolic BP: lowest 150.2, middle 149.0, highest 146.5

### Table 3: Summary of prospective studies on cocoa/chocolate consumption and CVD

ACM, all-cause mortality; BP, blood pressure; CVM, cardiovascular mortality; HR, hazard ratio; RR, relative risk.

Epidemiological data linking chocolate and cocoa intake with CVD risk remains limited. A subset of the Zutphen Elderly Study (Table 3) reported that cocoa and chocolate product intake was inversely related to cardiovascular mortality.<sup>48</sup> Compared with the lowest tertile of cocoa intake, the adjusted relative risk for men in the highest tertile was 0.50 (95% confidence interval (CI): 0.32–0.78; P = 0.004 for trend) for cardiovascular mortality and 0.53 (95% CI: 0.39–0.72; P < 0.001) for all-cause mortality. A recent cohort study of patients hospitalised after their first myocardial infarction (Table 3) found that chocolate consumption had a strong inverse association with cardiovascular mortality.<sup>119</sup>

### Cocoa and CVH markers: RCTs

### Vascular function: vasodilation and platelet aggregation

### Vasodilation

Several trials have investigated the effects of high flavonoid cocoa or chocolate on endothelial function. Chronic intake is defined as intake over two or more weeks, and acute is defined as intake within six hours. A meta-analysis of six acute intake studies (140 participants) showed chocolate or cocoa consumption increased FMD after acute intake (3.99%; 95% CI: 2.86, 5.12; six studies), with the peak effect at around two hours.<sup>46</sup> While an analysis in chronic intake studies was performed on two studies, more data is needed to confirm a clinically significant effect. Some of the studies may have received industry funding (specific studies not identified). Corti et al<sup>47</sup> identified a number of small intervention studies that used cocoa, a flavonol-rich drink or dark chocolate and improved/increased FMD of healthy individuals, as well as patients with cardiovascular risk factors.

### Platelet aggregation

Increased platelet reactivity and aggregation, as well as endothelial dysfunction, can lead to thrombosis and progress atherosclerosis.

A number of smaller studies have demonstrated a suppressive effect on platelet reactivity and platelet-related primary hemostasis from as little as a single dose of flavonoid-rich chocolate or cocoa.<sup>50,52</sup> In addition, some studies have provided support for the anti-aggregatory effects of cocoa flavonols.<sup>51,53,54</sup>

### Conclusion

High polyphenol cocoa and/or chocolate consumption increases endothelial function approximately two hours after consumption (level of evidence for effect: I), and may reduce platelet reactivity (level of evidence for effect: II).

### Blood pressure/Hypertension

Two small meta-analyses were conducted to determine the effect of cocoa and chocolate products on blood pressure. These have been analysed as RCTs because of the heterogeneity between trials.

A meta-analysis by Hooper et al<sup>46</sup> found that chocolate and cocoa intake reduced systolic blood pressure by 5.88 mmHg (95% CI: 9.55–2.21; five studies).

Taubert et al<sup>45</sup> also examined the effect of cocoa on blood pressure in five studies (mean duration: two weeks, a total of 173 adults). Patients consumed an average of 100 g per day of high flavonoid chocolate and a control chocolate. Subjects consuming the high flavonoid chocolate had a significant further reduction in systolic blood pressure of 4.7 mmHg (95% CI, 4.8 to 0.8; p = 0.006) compared to the control group.<sup>43</sup> A further RCT of 44 hypertensive patients tested 6.3 g per day of dark chocolate containing 30 g of polyphenols against

polyphenol-free white chocolate over 18 weeks. Those who ate dark chocolate had a reduction in systolic blood pressure of  $2.9\pm1.6$  mmHg (P < 0.001).<sup>49</sup>

Supportive evidence comes from a cross-sectional analysis of the Dutch Zutphen Study<sup>48</sup> of 470 men that showed that cocoa intake was inversely related to blood pressure (Table 3). Systolic blood pressure was 3.7 mmHg lower (95% CI: -7.1 to -0.3; P = 0.03 for trend) in the highest tertile compared to the lowest tertile.

### Conclusion

Consuming high polyphenol (= 500 mg) cocoa and/or up to 100 g/day of high polyphenol (= 500 mg) chocolate can modestly reduce systolic blood pressure.

### Variations in composition

Many confectionary manufacturers remove the flavonols from chocolate due to its bitter taste. Cocoa solids are darkened to give the appearance of dark chocolate, when in fact it contains mostly fat and sugar. Consumers are led to believe that all dark chocolate is better than milk or white chocolate, as manufacturers are not required to provide flavonol content on the label. Adding to that, the processing of chocolate is not uniform across manufacturers, and the variability in flavonoid levels can be extreme.<sup>120</sup>

### Conclusions

The flavonoid component of cocoa and chocolate may have beneficial effects on CVH, particularly blood pressure. The evidence to date comes from smaller, short-term trials (not easily translated into long-term effects), which provide the starting point for further investigation from larger, long-term trials.

### Coffee

There are two main species of coffee in the world: *Coffea arabica*, also called Arabica, and *Coffea canephora*, also called Robusta. While coffee contains thousands of compounds, a group of compounds comprising three chemicals have attracted particular attention: caffeine, diterpene alcohols, and chlorogenic acid (a polyphenolic acid). Chlorogenic acids are a family of esters formed between *trans*-cinnamic acids and quinic acid. The most common individual chlorogenic acid is formed between caffeic acid and quinic acid. It has been shown that both chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid are strong antioxidants *in vitro*.<sup>38</sup>

### Population studies: CVD

Some studies have reported an association between coffee consumption and CHD, while different population groups have shown negative results. This may be because coffee consumption is often associated with other lifestyle factors, such as smoking and physical inactivity, which contribute to an increased risk of CVD, and several early studies failed to adequately take these into account.<sup>61</sup> It has also been suggested that case-control studies have shown an association because of poorer control of confounding, selection bias or recall bias.<sup>63</sup> Sofi et al<sup>61</sup> reported a positive association between habitual coffee consumption and CHD using 13 case-control studies, but several meta-analyses of cohort studies have found no effect of coffee drinking on the risk of CHD.<sup>61–65</sup>

Recent prospective cohort studies have found that coffee intake at the time of myocardial infarction was associated with a lower risk of total and cardiac mortality,<sup>66</sup> and high coffee consumption was not associated with increased rates of heart failure hospitalisation or

mortality.<sup>67</sup> A follow up of the Health Professionals Study and the Nurses Health Study found that regular coffee consumption was not associated with an increased cardiovascular mortality rate in either men or women.<sup>68</sup>

A meta-analysis of nine cohort studies examined the relationship between coffee consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes (n = 193,473 participants).<sup>70</sup> The study found a significant inverse association between coffee consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes. Individuals who drank four to six cups per day and more than six cups per day had a 28 and 35% lower risk of type 2 diabetes than those who drank no coffee or less than two cups per day. Despite these findings, the mechanisms remain unclear.<sup>121</sup> As decaffeinated coffee is also associated with a decreased risk of type 2 diabetes, it is proposed that substances other than caffeine are responsible for this protective effect. One proposed mechanism is through chlorogenic acid, which decreases the intestinal absorption of glucose by inhibiting the glucose-6-phosphatase system.<sup>121,122</sup>

### Conclusion

Cohort studies suggest that coffee has little impact on the risk of CHD (level of evidence for lack of effect: III-2). Coffee consumption is not associated with increased rates of heart failure hospitalisation or mortality, or cardiovascular mortality (level of evidence for no association: III-2). Regular coffee consumption is associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes (level of evidence: III-2).

### Coffee and CVH markers: RCTs

The effects of coffee on the primary or secondary prevention of CVD have not been assessed in RCTs. Therefore, we need to rely on data from RCTs that have assessed the effects on markers of CVD risk.

### Blood pressure/Hypertension

Caffeine is the main active constituent responsible for the rise in blood pressure after acute consumption of coffee in individuals who have avoided caffeine for 12 hours or more.<sup>123</sup> A single dose of caffeine (200–250 mg; two cups of coffee) increases systolic blood pressure by 3–14 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure by 4–13 mmHg in normotensive individuals. This blood pressure response to caffeine seems to be more pronounced in hypertensive individuals and people who do not normally consume caffeine. The long-term effects of caffeine on blood pressure remain less clear.

Meta-analyses have examined the effect of coffee consumption on blood pressure.<sup>55,56</sup> Jee and colleagues<sup>55</sup> included 11 RCTs with a median duration of 56 days and median coffee intake of five cups per day. They found that systolic and diastolic blood pressure increased by 2.4 (range: 1.0–3.7) and 1.2 (range: 0.4–2.1) mmHg, respectively, with coffee, compared with the control. Noordzij et al<sup>56</sup> included 16 RCTs with a median duration of 43 days. Coffee and caffeine intake significantly increased systolic and diastolic blood pressure by 2.0 and 0.7 mmHg, respectively. Blood pressure elevations were two to three times greater for caffeine tablets than for caffeine was low if ingested through coffee.

It is not clear whether the attenuated pressor effects of chronic coffee consumption compared with caffeine tablets are due to other compounds found in coffee. Prospective epidemiological studies do not provide a clear picture on the role of coffee intake in the development of hypertension.<sup>69</sup>

### Conclusion

The results of RCTs show that coffee consumption of approximately five cups per day causes a small (2.4 mmHg) elevation in systolic blood pressure (level of evidence: I). The role of coffee intake in the development of hypertension is unclear from epidemiological studies (level of evidence: III-2).

### Lipid profile

Population studies have suggested a link between coffee consumption and raised blood cholesterol levels, but the results are inconsistent. The method of brewing has been identified as an important factor for the hypercholesterolaemic effect of coffee.<sup>59</sup> The mechanism by which blood cholesterol is elevated by coffee-derived compounds may be complex, with effects on a range of genes involved in cholesterol and bile acid metabolism.<sup>124</sup>

Christensen and coworkers<sup>125</sup> hypothesised that terpenoid fractions (found in very high amounts in unfiltered coffee), mainly cafestol and kahweol, in coffee oil raise blood cholesterol levels. It has been shown that boiled coffee contains a lipid fraction that can be removed during filtration though paper, and once filtered, does not raise blood cholesterol levels.<sup>57,58</sup> Instant coffee has very low levels of cafestol and kahweol, and is unlikely to raise blood cholesterol levels. Both Robusta and Arabica coffee beans contain kahweol and cafestol.

A comparison of diterpenes in various coffee brews found that Turkish/Greek-style coffee contains the highest cafestol levels per cup (mean:  $3.9\pm3.2$  mg), while plunger/cafetiere-style coffee contained  $3.5\pm1.2$  mg.<sup>59</sup> Five cups per day of either of these styles of coffee would raise serum cholesterol by about 8–10 mg/dL or 0.2–0.25 mmol/L. The cafestol concentrations for espresso-style coffee were highest, but due to the small servings, the cafestol content per cup was 1–2 mg. Five cups of espresso coffee per day raises serum cholesterol by an average of 2.5 mg/dL, not a clinically significant effect on CHD risk. Percolated coffee contained very low levels of cafestol, while drip coffee (with a paper filter) and instant coffee (decaffeinated and regular) contained minimal cafestol.

A meta-analysis of 14 RCTs found that the consumption of boiled coffee dose dependently increased LDL-C and TC levels, while the consumption of filtered coffee resulted in very little change.<sup>60</sup>

### Conclusion

RCTs have shown that boiled coffee increases LDL-C and TC levels, but filtered and instant coffee has very little effect (level of evidence: I).

### Red wine

Wine was first thought to be beneficial for health when it was observed that people in the Burgundy area of France experienced lower rates of CHD than people in other cultures who did not consume wine as the major alcoholic drink. Along with wine, the diet consisted of foods that were rich in saturated fat, and the lower incidence of CHD became known as the 'French paradox'.<sup>126</sup> It was subsequently suggested that this benefit associated with wine consumption is related to the antioxidants contained in red wine.<sup>127</sup> However, the evidence for this is at best circumstantial; the epidemiological effects of wine may come from variables other than antioxidant contents, such as drinkers having better eating patterns<sup>128</sup> and

healthy behaviours.<sup>129</sup> A recent study on the Danish population found that wine drinking was associated with a healthy diet, defined as mainly comprising fruit and vegetables, fish, salads and olive oil.<sup>130</sup> Such a study has not been conducted within the Australian population.

Red wine can be a rich source of polyphenols, such as anthocyanosides, catechins, proanthocyanosides, stilbenes and other phenolics dependent on the grape variety, area of cultivation and vinification methods.<sup>131</sup> The polyphenol resveratrol is found in the skin of red grapes, and is a constituent of red wine that has attracted considerable study as a compound that may have cardiovascular-protective effects.

### Population studies: CVD

Population studies of alcohol, including wine and red wine components, have shown CVD benefits.<sup>132–139</sup>

A study of 36,250 healthy, middle-aged French men reported that moderate wine and beer consumption was associated with a lower relative risk of CVD.<sup>135</sup> Further, the reduction in risk was more significant for wine. Moderate daily wine consumption (22–32 g of alcohol per day; higher than NHMRC recommendations) was significantly associated with a 33% lower relative risk of all-cause mortality compared with abstainers. Heavy drinking of beer and/or wine was associated with a significantly increased risk of death. Moderate wine consumption (< 60 g alcohol per day) was also associated with a lower risk of mortality from all causes in individuals with hypertension, compared with abstainers.<sup>134</sup>

The Copenhagen City Heart Study<sup>136</sup> followed a population of 13,285 participants for 10 to 12 years. They found that the risk of cardiovascular mortality steadily decreased with an increase in wine consumption, reaching a 49% reduction for those drinking three to five drinks per day compared to those who never drank wine. The same study<sup>137</sup> examined 13,329 participants over 16 years and found weekly wine consumption to be significantly associated with a reduced risk of stroke (monthly, relative risk: 0.83; 95% CI: 0.69–0.98; weekly, relative risk: 0.59; 95% CI: 0.45–0.77; daily, relative risk: 0.70; 95% CI: 0.46–1.00) compared with individuals who never/hardly ever drank wine. The study did not differentiate between red and white wine.

Di Castelnuovo et al<sup>139</sup> performed a meta-analysis to determine the relationship between wine and beer consumption and vascular risk. From 13 studies involving 209,418 people, an average significant reduction of 32% of overall vascular risk was associated with wine intake compared to non-drinkers. A J-shaped relationship between wine intake and vascular risk was established, suggesting that light-to-moderate wine drinkers have lower vascular risk than heavier drinkers or abstainers.<sup>139</sup>

The findings from prospective studies that light-to-moderate consumption of alcohol is protective against CVD compared with abstinence has been questioned.<sup>129,140</sup> It has been suggested that a systematic misclassification error is present in most of these prospective studies, because individuals who had stopped drinking or decreased their alcohol consumption to very occasional drinking had been classified in the abstainer category for the analysis. This had biased the findings, making drinkers appear to be less vulnerable to CHD, and abstainers more vulnerable. Individuals may decrease their alcohol consumption as they age, become ill and frail, and/or because of their increased use of medicines.

A meta-analysis of the few studies without these errors show abstainers and light and moderate drinkers to be at equal risk for all-cause and cardiovascular mortality.<sup>129</sup> In addition, the studies mentioned earlier were limited in their measurement, and most used absolute volume of drinking, thereby using imprecise measurements and introducing errors.

The use of the term 'moderate' needs to be considered carefully, because the meaning varies across cultures and time, and because the definitions in studies also vary.<sup>129</sup> In addition, evidence exists that encouraging moderate drinking raises the average alcohol consumption within a country.<sup>141</sup>

### Red wine and CVH markers: RCTs

The interaction between red wine polyphenolic compounds and the progression of atherosclerosis has been extensively investigated in animal models and humans. They are thought to exert numerous effects, including antioxidant and free radical properties, anti-aggregatory platelet and antithrombotic activities.<sup>142</sup> Moreover, red wine polyphenolic compounds are thought to be vasodilators and contribute to the preservation of the integrity of the endothelium and the inhibition of smooth muscle cell proliferation and vascular hyperplasia.<sup>142</sup>

There are over 8,000 polyphenolic compounds, and it is still unclear which of these is responsible for the beneficial effects listed earlier. Caffeic acid and protocatechuic acid seem to have the most potent antioxidant effects; resveratrol and quercetin have the highest activity in platelet adhesiveness modulation; and resveratrol may have the strongest antiproliferative potential.<sup>142</sup> Additional research is needed to determine the compounds, doses and possible synergistic effects that would provide optimal CVH benefits.

### Red wine and risks associated with increased alcohol consumption

In Australia, the NHMRC recommendations state "for healthy men and women, drinking no more than two standard drinks on any day reduces the lifetime risk of harm from alcoholrelated disease or injury".<sup>143</sup> The notion of a standard drink is used widely internationally, but the definition varies from country to country. These guidelines use the Australian standard drink, which is defined as containing 10 g of alcohol (equivalent to 12.5 mL pure alcohol). The studies reviewed were conducted in Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development countries, where standard drinks are defined in grams of ethanol.

### Conclusions

There is no compelling evidence that would justify the Heart Foundation varying from NHMRC advice around the adult intake of no more than two standard drinks on any day. While polyphenols in red wine have been examined for effects on CVH markers, little has been shown in longitudinal RCTs of humans to date.

As wine drinking proves to be associated with a healthier lifestyle profile than the consumption of beer and liquor, this may have a substantial influence on the positive outcome of epidemiological studies. Prospective randomised trials of humans are needed, but due to ethical considerations, they cannot be conducted.

In 2002, the Heart Foundation reviewed RCTs and several large prospective cohort studies involving the clinical use of antioxidant supplements.<sup>78</sup> From the RCTs investigating vitamin E, retinoic acid and  $\beta$ -carotene, the majority of data indicated a neutral effect of supplementation with antioxidants on cardiovascular outcomes. The review concluded that there was insufficient data to recommend the consumption of antioxidant vitamin supplements for the prevention or treatment of CHD. It recommended that emerging evidence on the role of antioxidant supplements be monitored.<sup>78</sup>

In 2004, the American Heart Association conducted a review of the evidence to determine the effects of antioxidant vitamin and mineral supplements on CVD risk.<sup>144</sup> They also found, for the most part, that clinical trials failed to demonstrate a beneficial effect of antioxidant supplements on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. The authors concluded that the scientific data at that time did not justify the use of antioxidant supplements for CVD risk reduction.

Other reviews and meta-analyses conducted since 2002 are discussed below.

### Supplements: systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs

Katsiki and Manes<sup>71</sup> reviewed RCTs of antioxidant supplementation, particularly vitamins E, C and/or A, to examine their role in the prevention of atherosclerosis. The authors identified 22 trials; 10 for a single supplement and 12 for the effect of a combination of antioxidants. Overall, the studies failed to demonstrate a consistent protective effect of any single antioxidant or combination of antioxidants on the incidence of or death from CVD.

A systematic review and meta-analysis by Shekelle et al<sup>72</sup> assessed the efficacy of vitamin E supplementation for the prevention and treatment of CVD. Eighty-four eligible trials were identified. The results did not support any benefit associated with the use of vitamin E, alone or in combination, for the prevention of all-cause mortality or cardiovascular mortality. The analysis did not find an effect for vitamin E supplementation, alone or in combination, on the risk of myocardial infarction, fatal or non-fatal. Intervention with vitamin E in doses ranging from 100 to 1200 IU per day and treatment durations of eight to 24 weeks did not demonstrate a significant effect on serum lipids.

A smaller meta-analysis of RCTs examined the effect of vitamin E and  $\beta$ -carotene on all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality.<sup>73</sup> Seven trials of vitamin E treatment (81,788 individuals) and eight trials of  $\beta$ -carotene (138,113 individuals; most people in the secondary prevention group were smokers) were included. Vitamin E did not provide benefits in mortality when compared with the control, nor did it significantly decrease the risk of cardiovascular mortality or cerebrovascular accident. A small, harmful effect of  $\beta$ -carotene was observed, mainly due to the inclusion of patients who were at high risk of lung cancer due to smoking.

In 2004, Eidelman and colleagues<sup>74</sup> examined randomised trials for the effectiveness of vitamin E, alone or in combination, in the treatment and prevention of CVD. Seven large-scale trials were found with data on non-fatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke

and cardiovascular mortality. The analysis did not find a statistically significant or clinically important effect on CVD.

### Conclusion

The use of supplemental vitamin E does not decrease the risk of all-cause mortality or cardiovascular mortality, nor does it have any effect on the prevention of cardiovascular events (level of evidence for meta-analysis: I). There are potential concerns about the consumption of large doses of supplemental vitamin E with regards to the possibility of increased all-cause mortality.

The consumption of supplemental  $\beta$ -carotene has a small effect on increasing cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality in smokers (level of evidence: II).

There is no evidence for effectiveness from a combination of antioxidants as supplements for the prevention of CVD (level of evidence: II).

### Supplements: systematic reviews and meta-analyses of population studies

A meta-analysis by Ye and Song<sup>75</sup> sought to examine the relationship between antioxidant vitamins E and C and  $\beta$ -carotene and CHD risk. Fifteen relevant cohort studies were identified involving a total of 7,415 incident CHD cases and 374,488 participants. Subgroup analyses show that dietary intake of vitamins C and E and using vitamin E supplements had an inverse association with CHD risk; vitamin C had no significant association. In the dose-response analysis, no association was observed between vitamin C intake of 30 mg per day and the risk of CHD (relative risk: 1.01, CI: 0.99–1.02). No association was observed between  $\beta$ -carotene intake of 1 mg per day and the risk of CHD (relative risk: 1.0, CI: 0.88–1.14). An inverse relationship was found between vitamin E intake and the risk of CHD; an increment of 30 IU per day was found to lower CHD risk by 4%.

A pooled analysis of nine cohort studies by Knekt et al<sup>76</sup> involved 4,647 major incident CHD events in 293,172 individuals free of CHD. Over 10 years, higher overall intakes of vitamin C were associated with lower CHD rates. Participants in the highest quintile of intake (median: 756 mg/day) had a 24% lower risk than those in the lowest quintile.

### Conclusion

There is conflicting evidence regarding the effect of supplemental vitamin C intake and the risk of CHD (level of evidence: III-2).

## Conclusions

The epidemiological evidence on antioxidants in food and drinks shows some positive outcomes for CVH and the prevention of CVD. However, RCTs have not supported such findings for antioxidant supplements and CVH.

Positively, intervention studies have shown that:

- fruit and vegetables lower blood pressure
- regular, warm black and/or green tea drinking improves endothelial function and may reduce the risk of CVD
- the consumption of high polyphenol cocoa and chocolate increases endothelial function
- the consumption of high polyphenol cocoa and chocolate reduces platelet reactivity
- the consumption of high polyphenol cocoa and chocolate reduces systolic blood pressure.

Negatively, intervention studies have shown that:

- five cups of coffee per day can slightly increase systolic blood pressure
- drinking boiled coffee, as opposed to filtered or instant, increases LDL-C and TC levels
- β-carotene supplementation has a small effect on increasing cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality in smokers.

There was no evidence of effectiveness for the prevention of CVD from:

- combinations of antioxidant supplements
- supplemental vitamin E.

There was conflicting evidence regarding the effect of supplemental vitamin C intake and the risk of CHD.

The Heart Foundation recommends that fruit and vegetables (including nuts and seeds) and warm black or green tea be incorporated into a healthy, balanced diet. High polyphenol cocoa drinks may be included as a good source of antioxidants, but most commercially available chocolate is high in energy, and processing removes the antioxidants due to their bitter taste. Coffee should not be boiled on the stove top or prepared in a plunger, and we recommend no more than five cups per day.

Based on the available research, the Heart Foundation will continue to encourage safe drinking practices for CVD without specification of the type of drink. The Heart Foundation supports the NHMRC recommendation for healthy Australians to have no more than two standard alcoholic drinks per day. We also advise individuals with hypertension to have no more than two standard drinks per day, people with chronic heart failure who have alcohol-related cardiomyopathy to abstain from alcohol, and other people with chronic heart failure to limit their alcohol intake to no more than 10–20 g (one to two standard drinks) per day.<sup>145</sup>

We do not recommend combination or individual antioxidant supplements for the prevention of CVD.

## Abbreviations

ACM	All-cause mortality
BP	Blood pressure
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CI	Confidence interval
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
CVH	Cardiovascular health
CVM	Cardiovascular mortality
DASH	Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension
FMD	Flow-mediated dilation
HR	Hazard ratio
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RR	Relative risk
TAC	Total antioxidant capacity
TC	Total cholesterol

## Acknowledgements

This summary of evidence was prepared by Tuesday Udell, National Policy Officer, Food Supply, Heart Foundation. It was based on a previous Heart Foundation evidence paper: *The use of antioxidant supplements in coronary heart disease*.<sup>78</sup>

This updated evidence statement was developed through a rigorous review and consultation process.

The development was guided by a working group of the following members:

- Professor Leonard Kritharides: Department of Cardiology Concord Hospital University of Sydney, and the Centre for Vascular Research University of New South Wales
- Professor Roland Stocker: Sydney Medical School, School of Medical Sciences and Bosch Institute, University of Sydney
- Professor Trevor Mori: School of Medicine and Pharmacology, Cardiovascular Research Centre, University of Western Australia
- Research Professor Jonathan Hodgson: School of Medicine and Pharmacology, Cardiovascular Research Centre, University of Western Australia
- Professor Kevin Croft: School of Medicine and Pharmacology, University of Western Australia
- Barbara Eden: Senior Food Supply Manager, Heart Foundation.

Thank you to the Heart Foundation staff who contributed to this paper:

- Susan Anderson
- Anne-Marie Mackintosh
- Tessa Letcher
- Shanthi Thuraisingham
- Julie-Anne McWhinnie
- Rohan Greenland.

This paper has been approved by the National Cardiovascular Health Advisory Committee (16 November 2009) and the National Board of the National Heart Foundation of Australia (27 November 2009).

## References

- 1. National Health and Medical Research Council. Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol. Canberra: NHMRC, 2009.
- 2. National Health and Medical Research Council. Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand including recommended dietary intakes. Canberra: NHMRC, 2006.
- 3. Appel L, Moore T, Obarzanek E, et al. A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 1997; 336: 1117–1124.
- 4. Most MM. Estimated phytochemical content of the dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet is higher than in the control study diet. J Am Diet Assoc 2004; 104: 1725–1727.
- 5. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. In Brief: Your guide to lowering your blood pressure with DASH. NIH publication no. 06-5834 Maryland, USA, NIH, 2006.
- Rissanen TH, Voutilainen S, Virtanen JK, et al. Low intake of fruits, berries and vegetables is associated with excess mortality in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor (KIHD) Study. J Nutr 2003; 133: 199–204.
- Nakamura K, Nagata C, Oba S, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and mortality from cardiovascular disease are inversely associated in Japanese women but not in men. J Nutr 2008; 138: 1129–1134.
- 8. He FJ, Nowson CA, MacGregor GA. Fruit and vegetable consumption and stroke: meta-analysis of cohort studies. Lancet 2006; 367: 320–326.
- 9. Law MR, Morris JK. By how much does fruit and vegetable consumption reduce the risk of ischaemic heart disease? Eur J Clin Nutr 1998; 52: 549–556.
- 10. Knekt P, Jarvinen R, Reunanen A, et al. Flavonoid intake and coronary mortality in Finland: a cohort study. BMJ 1996; 312: 478–481.
- 11. Mink PJ, Scrafford CG, Barraj LM, et al. Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality: a prospective study in postmenopausal women. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85: 895–909.
- 12. He FJ, Nowson CA, Lucas M, et al. Increased consumption of fruit and vegetables is related to a reduced risk of coronary heart disease: meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Hum Hypertens 2007; 21: 717–728.
- 13. Dauchet L, Amouyel P, Hercberg S, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Nutr 2006; 136: 2588–2593.
- 14. Joshipura KJ, Hu FB, Manson JE, et al. The effect of fruit and vegetable intake on risk for coronary heart disease. Ann Intern Med 2001; 134: 1106–1114.
- 15. Hertog MG, Feskens EJ, Hollman PC, et al. Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Zutphen Elderly Study. Lancet 1993; 342: 1007–1011.
- 16. Arts IC, Jacobs DR Jr, Harnack LJ, et al. Dietary catechins in relation to coronary heart disease death among postmenopausal women. Epidemiology 2001; 12: 668–675.

- Alexopoulos N, Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K, et al. The acute effect of green tea consumption on endothelial function in healthy individuals. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2008; 15: 300–305.
- 18. Nagaya N, Yamamoto H, Uematsu M, et al. Green tea reverses endothelial dysfunction in healthy smokers. Heart 2004; 90: 1485–1486.
- 19. Kim W, Jeong MH, Cho SH, et al. Effect of green tea consumption on endothelial function and circulating endothelial progenitor cells in chronic smokers. Circ J 2006; 70: 1052–1057.
- 20. Jochmann N, Lorenz M, Krosigk A, et al. The efficacy of black tea in ameliorating endothelial function is equivalent to that of green tea. Br J Nutr 2008; 99: 863–868.
- 21. Hodgson JM, Croft KD, Mori TA, et al. Regular ingestion of tea does not inhibit *in vivo* lipid peroxidation in humans. J Nutr 2002; 132: 55–58.
- 22. Duffy SJ, Keaney JF Jr, Holbrook M, et al. Short- and long-term black tea consumption reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 2001; 104: 151–156.
- 23. Hodgson JM, Burke V, Puddey IB. Acute effects of tea on fasting and postprandial vascular function and blood pressure in humans. J Hypertens 2005; 23: 47–54.
- 24. Grassi D, Mulder T, Draijerc R, et al. Black tea consumption dose-dependently improves flow-mediated dilation in healthy males. J Hypertens 2009; 27: 774–781.
- Widlansky ME, Hamburg NM, Anter E, et al. Acute EGCG supplementation reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Nutr 2007; 26: 95–102.
- 26. Loke WM, Hodgson JM, Proudfoot JM, et al. Pure dietary flavonoids quercetin and (–)– epicatechin augment nitric oxide products and reduce endothelin-1 acutely in healthy men. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 88: 1018–1025.
- 27. Nagao T, Komine Y, Soga S, et al. Ingestion of a tea rich in catechins leads to a reduction in body fat and malondialdehyde-modified LDL in men. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81: 122–129.
- 28. Kajimoto O, Kajimoto Y, Yabune M, et al. Tea catechins with a galloyl moiety reduce body weight and fat. J Health Sci 2005; 1: 161–171.
- 29. Nagao T, Hase T, Tokimitsu I. A green tea extract high in catechins reduces body fat and cardiovascular risks in humans. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007; 15: 1473–1483.
- 30. Maki KC, Reeves MS, Farmer M, et al. Green tea catechin consumption enhances exerciseinduced abdominal fat loss in overweight and obese adults. J Nutr 2009; 139: 264–270.
- Diepvens K, Westerterp KR, Westerterp-Plantenga MS. Obesity and thermogenesis related to the consumption of caffeine, ephedrine, capsaicin, and green tea. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2007; 292: R77–R85.
- 32. Peters U, Poole C, Arab L. Does tea affect cardiovascular disease? A meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2001; 154: 495–503.
- 33. Stangl V, Lorenz M, Stangl K. The role of tea and tea flavonoids in cardiovascular health. Mol Nutr Food Res 2006; 50: 218–228.
- 34. Khan N, Mukhtar H. Tea polyphenols for health promotion. Life Sci 2007; 81: 519–533.

- 35. Kuriyama S. The relation between green tea consumption and cardiovascular disease as evidenced by epidemiological studies. J Nutr 2008; 138: 1548S–1553S.
- 36. Wolfram S. Effects of green tea and EGCG on cardiovascular and metabolic health. J Am Coll Nutr 2007; 26: 373S–388S.
- 37. Huxley RR, Neil HA. The relation between dietary flavonol intake and coronary heart disease mortality: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Eur J Clin Nutr 2003; 57: 904–908.
- Quinlan P, Lane J, Aspinall L. Effects of hot tea, coffee and water ingestion on physiological responses and mood: the role of caffeine, water and beverage type. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1997; 134: 164–173.
- 39. Hodgson JM. Effects of tea and tea flavonoids on endothelial function and blood pressure: a brief review. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2006; 33: 838–841.
- 40. Stensvold I, Tverdal A, Solvoll K, et al. Tea consumption. Relationship to cholesterol, blood pressure, and coronary and total mortality. Prev Med 1992; 21: 546–553.
- 41. Hakim IA, Alsaif MA, Alduwaihy M, et al. Tea consumption and the prevalence of coronary heart disease in Saudi adults: results from a Saudi national study. Prev Med 2003; 36: 64–70.
- 42. Yang YC, Lu FH, Wu JS, et al. The protective effect of habitual tea consumption on hypertension. Arch Intern Med 2004; 164: 1534–1540.
- 43. Hodgson JM, Puddey IB, Burke V, et al. Effects on blood pressure of drinking green and black tea. J Hypertens 1999; 17: 457–463.
- 44. Bingham SA, Vorster H, Jerling JC, et al. Effect of black tea drinking on blood lipids, blood pressure and aspects of bowel habit. Br J Nutr 1997; 78: 41–55.
- 45. Taubert D, Roesen R, Schomig E. Effect of cocoa and tea intake on blood pressure: a meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2007; 167: 626–634.
- 46. Hooper L, Kroon PA, Rimm EB, et al. Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 88: 38–50.
- 47. Corti R, Flammer AJ, Hollenberg NK, et al. Cocoa and cardiovascular health. Circulation 2009; 119: 1433–1441.
- 48. Buijsse B, Feskens EJ, Kok FJ, et al. Cocoa intake, blood pressure, and cardiovascular mortality: the Zutphen Elderly Study. Arch Intern Med 2006; 166: 411–417.
- 49. Taubert D, Roesen R, Lehmann C, et al. Effects of low habitual cocoa intake on blood pressure and bioactive nitric oxide: a randomized controlled trial. Jama 2007; 298: 49–60.
- 50. Kris-Etherton PM, Keen CL. Evidence that the antioxidant flavonoids in tea and cocoa are beneficial for cardiovascular health. Curr Opin Lipidol 2002; 13: 41–49.
- 51. Steinberg FM, Bearden MM, Keen CL. Cocoa and chocolate flavonoids: implications for cardiovascular health. J Am Diet Assoc 2003; 103: 215–223.
- 52. Engler MB, Engler MM. The emerging role of flavonoid-rich cocoa and chocolate in cardiovascular health and disease. Nutr Rev 2006; 64: 109–118.
- 53. Mehrinfar R, Frishman WH. Flavanol-rich cocoa: a cardioprotective nutraceutical. Cardiol Rev; 2008; 16: 109–115.

- 54. Keen CL, Holt RR, Oteiza PI, et al. Cocoa antioxidants and cardiovascular health. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81: 298S–303S.
- 55. Jee SH, He J, Whelton PK, et al. The effect of chronic coffee drinking on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. Hypertension 1999; 33: 647–652.
- Noordzij M, Uiterwaal CS, Arends LR, et al. Blood pressure response to chronic intake of coffee and caffeine: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Hypertens 2005; 23: 921–928.
- 57. Weusten-Van der Wouw MP, Katan MB, Viani R, et al. Identity of the cholesterol-raising factor from boiled coffee and its effects on liver function enzymes. J Lipid Res 1994; 35: 721–733.
- 58. Heckers H, Gobel U, Kleppel U. End of the coffee mystery: diterpene alcohols raise serum low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and triglyceride levels. J Intern Med 1994; 235: 192–193.
- 59. Urgert R, van der Weg G, Kosmeijer-Schuil TG, et al. Levels of the cholesterol-elevating diterpenes cafestol and kahweol in various coffee brews. J Agric Food Chem 2002; 43: 2167–2172.
- 60. Jee SH, He J, Appel LJ, et al. Coffee consumption and serum lipids: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. Am J Epidemiol 2001; 153: 353–362.
- 61. Sofi F, Conti AA, Gori AM, et al. Coffee consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2007; 17: 209–223.
- 62. Myers MG, Basinski A. Coffee and coronary heart disease. Arch Intern Med 1992; 152: 1767–1772.
- 63. Greenland S. A meta-analysis of coffee, myocardial infarction, and coronary death. Epidemiology 1993; 4: 366–374.
- 64. Kawachi I, Colditz GA, Stone CB. Does coffee drinking increase the risk of coronary heart disease? Results from a meta-analysis. Br Heart J 1994; 72: 269–275.
- 65. Wu JN, Ho SC, Zhou C, et al. Coffee consumption and risk of coronary heart diseases: a meta-analysis of 21 prospective cohort studies. Int J Cardiol 2009; 137: 216–225.
- Mukamal KJ, Hallqvist J, Hammar N, et al. Coffee consumption and mortality after acute myocardial infarction: The Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program. Am Heart J 2009; 157: 495–501.
- 67. Ahmed HN, Levitan EB, Wolk A, et al. Coffee consumption and risk of heart failure in men: an analysis from the Cohort of Swedish Men. Am Heart J 2009; 158(4): 667–72.
- 68. Lopez-Garcia E, van Dam RM, Li TY, et al. The relationship of coffee consumption with mortality. Ann Intern Med 2008; 148: 904–914.
- 69. Geleijnse JM. Habitual coffee consumption and blood pressure: an epidemiological perspective. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2008; 4: 963–970.
- 70. van Dam RM, Hu FB. Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. JAMA 2005; 294: 97–104.
- 71. Katsiki N, Manes C. Is there a role for supplemented antioxidants in the prevention of atherosclerosis? Clin Nutr 2009; 28: 3–9.

- 72. Shekelle PG, Morton SC, Jungvig LK, et al. Effect of supplemental vitamin E for the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular disease. J Gen Intern Med 2004; 19: 380–389.
- 73. Vivekananthan DP, Penn MS, Sapp SK, et al. Use of antioxidant vitamins for the prevention of cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 2003; 361: 2017–2023.
- 74. Eidelman RS, Hollar D, Hebert PR, et al. Randomized trials of vitamin E in the treatment and prevention of cardiovascular disease. Arch Intern Med 2004; 164: 1552–1556.
- 75. Ye Z, Song H. Antioxidant vitamins intake and the risk of coronary heart disease: metaanalysis of cohort studies. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2008; 15: 26–34.
- 76. Knekt P, Ritz J, Pereira MA, et al. Antioxidant vitamins and coronary heart disease risk: a pooled analysis of 9 cohorts. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 80: 1508–1520.
- 77. National Health and Medical Research Council. A guide to the development, implementation and evaluation of clinical practice guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC, 1999.
- 78. Kritharides L, Stocker R. The use of antioxidant supplements in coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 2002; 164: 211–219.
- 79. Winkler E, Patterson C, Newman B. Food Standards Australia New Zealand Diet–Disease Relationship Review: dietary fruit and vegetable intake and risk of coronary heart disease. Brisbane: Queensland University of Technology, 2006.
- 80. Stampfer MJ, Hennekens CH, Manson JE, et al. Vitamin E consumption and the risk of coronary disease in women. N Engl J Med 1993; 328: 1444–1449.
- 81. Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Ascherio A, et al. Vitamin E consumption and the risk of coronary heart disease in men. N Engl J Med 1993; 328: 1450–1456.
- 82. Sies H. Total antioxidant capacity: appraisal of a concept. J Nutr 2007; 137: 1493–1495.
- Halliwell B, Rafter J, Jenner A. Health promotion by flavonoids, tocopherols, tocotrienols, and other phenols: direct or indirect effects? Antioxidant or not? Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81: 268S–276S.
- 84. National Heart Foundation of Australia. Position statement. The use of antioxidant supplements in heart disease. Sydney: NHFA, 2002.
- 85. Somerset SM, Johannot L. Dietary flavonoid sources in Australian adults. Nutr Cancer 2008; 60: 442–449.
- 86. Johannot L, Somerset SM. Age-related variations in flavonoid intake and sources in the Australian population. Public Health Nutr 2006; 9: 1045–1054.
- 87. Geleijnse JM, Hollman P. Flavonoids and cardiovascular health: which compounds, what mechanisms? Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 88: 12–13.
- 88. Bruckdorfer KR. Antioxidants and CVD. Proc Nutr Soc 2008; 67: 214–222.
- Miller MR, Pollard CM, Coli T. Western Australian Health Department recommendations for fruit and vegetable consumption—how much is enough? Aust N Z J Public Health 1997; 21: 638–642.
- 90. Pellegrini N, Miglio C, Del Rio D, et al. Effect of domestic cooking methods on the total antioxidant capacity of vegetables. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2009; 60 (Suppl 2): 12–22.

- 91. Hamer M, Chida Y. Intake of fruit, vegetables, and antioxidants and risk of type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens 2007; 25: 2361–2369.
- 92. Key TJ, Appleby PN, Davey GK, et al. Mortality in British vegetarians: review and preliminary results from EPIC–Oxford. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78: 533S–538S\.
- 93. Thorogood M, Mann J, Appleby P, et al. Risk of death from cancer and ischaemic heart disease in meat and non-meat eaters. BMJ 1994; 308: 1667–1670.
- 94. Key TJ, Thorogood M, Appleby PN, et al. Dietary habits and mortality in 11,000 vegetarians and health conscious people: results of a 17 year follow up. BMJ 1996; 313: 775–779.
- 95. Chang-Claude J, Frentzel-Beyme R, Eilber U. Mortality pattern of German vegetarians after 11 years of follow-up. Epidemiology 1992; 3: 395–401.
- 96. Jenkins DJ, Wong JM, Kendall CW, et al. The effect of a plant-based low-carbohydrate ("Eco-Atkins") diet on body weight and blood lipid concentrations in hyperlipidemic subjects. Arch Intern Med 2009; 169: 1046–1054.
- 97. Watzl B, Kulling SE, Moseneder J, et al. A 4-wk intervention with high intake of carotenoidrich vegetables and fruit reduces plasma C-reactive protein in healthy, nonsmoking men. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 82: 1052–1058.
- 98. Lin YJ, Chien YW, Yang SH, et al. Fruits and stir-fried vegetables increase plasma carotenoids in young adults. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2007; 16: 616–623.
- 99. Paterson E, Gordon MH, Niwat C, et al. Supplementation with fruit and vegetable soups and beverages increases plasma carotenoid concentrations but does not alter markers of oxidative stress or cardiovascular risk factors. J Nutr 2006; 136: 2849–2855.
- 100. McKay DL, Blumberg JB. The role of tea in human health: an update. J Am Coll Nutr 2002; 21: 1–13.
- 101. Wu CD, Wei GX. Tea as a functional food for oral health. Nutrition 2002; 18: 443–444.
- 102. Schroeder S, Enderle MD, Ossen R, et al. Noninvasive determination of endotheliummediated vasodilation as a screening test for coronary artery disease: pilot study to assess the predictive value in comparison with angina pectoris, exercise electrocardiography, and myocardial perfusion imaging. Am Heart J 1999; 138: 731–739.
- 103. Schachinger V, Britten MB, Zeiher AM. Prognostic impact of coronary vasodilator dysfunction on adverse long-term outcome of coronary heart disease. Circulation 2000; 101: 1899–1906.
- van het Hof K, de Boer HS, Wiseman SA, et al. Consumption of green or black tea does not increase resistance of low-density lipoprotein to oxidation in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 66: 1125–1132.
- 105. Tsubono Y, Tsugane S. Green tea intake in relation to serum lipid levels in middle-aged Japanese men and women. Ann Epidemiol 1997; 7: 280–284.
- 106. Unno T, Tago M, Suzuki Y, et al. Effect of tea catechins on postprandial plasma lipid responses in human subjects. Br J Nutr 2005; 93: 543–547.
- 107. Hodgson JM. Tea flavonoids and cardiovascular disease. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2008; 17 (Suppl 1): 288–290.
- 108. Dulloo AG, Duret C, Rohrer D, et al. Efficacy of a green tea extract rich in catechin polyphenols and caffeine in increasing 24-h energy expenditure and fat oxidation in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 1999; 70: 1040–1045.

- 109. Rumpler W, Seale J, Clevidence B, et al. Oolong tea increases metabolic rate and fat oxidation in men. J Nutr 2001; 131: 2848–2852.
- 110. Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Lejeune MP, Kovacs EM. Body weight loss and weight maintenance in relation to habitual caffeine intake and green tea supplementation. Obes Res 2005; 13: 1195–1204.
- 111. Venables MC, Hulston CJ, Cox HR, et al. Green tea extract ingestion, fat oxidation, and glucose tolerance in healthy humans. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87: 778–784.
- 112. Ota N, Soga S, Shimotoyodome A, et al. Effects of combination of regular exercise and tea catechins intake on energy expenditure in humans. J Health Sci 2005; 51: 233–236.
- 113. Takashima S, Kataoka K, Shibata E, et al. The long term intake of catechins improves lipid catabolism during exercise. Prog Med 2004; 24: 3371–3379.
- 114. Diepvens K, Kovacs EM, Vogels N, et al. Metabolic effects of green tea and of phases of weight loss. Physiol Behav 2006; 87: 185–191.
- 115. Hill AM, Coates AM, Buckley JD, et al. Can EGCG reduce abdominal fat in obese subjects? J Am Coll Nutr 2007; 26: 396S–402S.
- 116. McShea A, Ramiro-Puig E, Munro SB, et al. Clinical benefit and preservation of flavonols in dark chocolate manufacturing. Nutr Rev 2008; 66: 630–641.
- 117. Miller KB, Stuart DA, Smith NL, et al. Antioxidant activity and polyphenol and procyanidin contents of selected commercially available cocoa-containing and chocolate products in the United States. J Agric Food Chem 2006; 54: 4062–4068.
- 118. McCullough ML, Chevaux K, Jackson L, et al. Hypertension, the Kuna, and the epidemiology of flavanols. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2006; 47 (Suppl 2): S103–S109; discussion 119–121.
- 119. Janszky I, Mukamal KJ, Ljung R, et al. Chocolate consumption and mortality following a first acute myocardial infarction: the Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program. J Intern Med 2009; 266: 248–257.
- 120. The devil in the dark chocolate. Lancet 2007; 370: 2070.
- 121. Campos H, Baylin A. Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes and heart disease. Nutr Rev 2007; 65: 173–179.
- 122. van Dijk AE, Olthof MR, Meeuse JC, et al. Acute effects of decaffeinated coffee and the major coffee components chlorogenic acid and trigonelline on glucose tolerance. Diabetes Care 2009; 32: 1023–1025.
- 123. Higdon JV, Frei B. Coffee and health: a review of recent human research. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2006; 46: 101–123.
- 124. Ricketts ML, Boekschoten MV, Kreeft AJ, et al. The cholesterol-raising factor from coffee beans, cafestol, as an agonist ligand for the farnesoid and pregnane X receptors. Mol Endocrinol 2007; 21: 1603–1616.
- 125. Christensen B, Mosdol A, Retterstol L, et al. Abstention from filtered coffee reduces the concentrations of plasma homocysteine and serum cholesterol—a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2001; 74: 302–307.
- 126. Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease. Lancet 1992; 339: 1523–1526.

- 127. Duthie GG, Duthie SJ, Kyle JA. Plant polyphenols in cancer and heart disease: implications as nutritional antioxidants. Nutr Res Rev 2000; 13: 79–106.
- 128. Johansen D, Friis K, Skovenborg E, et al. Do wine drinkers eat healthier than beer drinkers? A cross sectional study of 3(1/2) million purchases in Danish supermarkets—secondary publication. Ugeskr Laeger 2007; 169: 823–826.
- 129. Fillmore KM, Stockwell T, Chikritzhs T, et al. Moderate alcohol use and reduced mortality risk: systematic error in prospective studies and new hypotheses. Ann Epidemiol 2007; 17: S16–S23.
- 130. Johansen D, Friis K, Skovenborg E, et al. Food buying habits of people who buy wine or beer: cross sectional study. BMJ 2006; 332: 519–522.
- 131. Dell'Agli M, Busciala A, Bosisio E. Vascular effects of wine polyphenols. Cardiovasc Res 2004; 63: 593–602.
- 132. Theobald H, Bygren LO, Carstensen J, et al. A moderate intake of wine is associated with reduced total mortality and reduced mortality from cardiovascular disease. J Stud Alcohol 2000; 61: 652–656.
- 133. Ruf JC. Overview of epidemiological studies on wine, health and mortality. Drugs Exp Clin Res 2003; 29: 173–179.
- 134. Renaud SC, Gueguen R, Conard P, et al. Moderate wine drinkers have lower hypertensionrelated mortality: a prospective cohort study in French men. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 80: 621–625.
- 135. Renaud SC, Gueguen R, Siest G, et al. Wine, beer, and mortality in middle-aged men from eastern France. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159: 1865–1870.
- 136. Gronbaek M, Deis A, Sorensen TI, et al. Mortality associated with moderate intakes of wine, beer, or spirits. BMJ 1995; 310: 1165–1169.
- 137. Truelsen T, Gronbæk M, Schnohr P, et al. Intake of beer, wine, and spirits and risk of stroke: The Copenhagen City Heart Study. Stroke 1998; 29: 2467–2472.
- 138. Reynolds K, Lewis B, Nolen JD, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of stroke: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2003; 289: 579–588.
- 139. Di Castelnuovo A, Rotondo S, Iacoviello L, et al. Meta-analysis of wine and beer consumption in relation to vascular risk. Circulation 2002; 105: 2836–2844.
- 140. Corrao G, Rubbiati L, Bagnardi V, et al. Alcohol and coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2000; 95: 1505–1523.
- 141. Panel Discussion V. The message on moderate drinking. Ann Epidemiol 2007; 17: S110–S111.
- 142. Cordova AC, Jackson LS, Berke-Schlessel DW, et al. The cardiovascular protective effect of red wine. J Am Coll Surg 2005; 200: 428–439.
- 143. National Health and Medical Research Council. Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol. Canberra: NHMRC, 2009.
- 144. Kris-Etherton PM, Lichtenstein AH, Howard BV, et al. Antioxidant vitamin supplements and cardiovascular disease. Circulation 2004; 110: 637–641.
- 145. National Heart Foundation of Australia. Reducing risk in heart disease. Full guidelines. Melbourne: NHFA, 2008.



For heart health information 1300 36 27 87 www.heartfoundation.org.au

© 2010 National Heart Foundation of Australia ABN 98 008 419 761

PRO-107.V2